IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

No. 19-2137

WILLIAM MCGREW and ELAINE MCGREW,

Plaintiffs-Appellants,

vs.

**EROMOSELE OTOADESE, M.D. and NORTHERN IOWA
CARDIOVASCULAR AND THORACIC SURGERY CLINIC, P.C.,**

Defendants-Appellees

**APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
IN AND FOR BLACK HAWK COUNTY
THE HONORABLE KELLYANN M. LEKAR, JUDGE**

APPELLANTS' APPLICATION FOR FURTHER REVIEW

**Martin Diaz AT0002000
1570 Shady Ct. NW
Swisher, IA 52338
(319) 339-4350
(319) 339-4426 Fax
marty@martindiazlawfirm.com
Attorney for Appellants**

QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

STATEMENT SUPPORTING FURTHER REVIEW

When this Court established the Civil Justice Task Force in 2009, the Task Force could not come to an agreement on changes to the expert disclosure requirements of the Iowa Rules of Civil Procedure. *Reforming the Iowa Civil Justice System: Report of the Iowa Civil Justice Reform Task Force, January 30, 2012*, p. 40 (“The Task Force compared the federal approach to disclosure of expert witnesses with the current Iowa procedure but was unable to reach a consensus on possible changes to Iowa’s procedure for expert witness opinion disclosure or the taking of expert depositions.”)

When, on August 28, 2014, this court issued its order in response to the Task Force recommendations, it established a new expert disclosure process found at Iowa R. Civ. Pro. 1.500(2). The new rules went into effect starting in 2015. It appears that this Court implemented rules similar to if not identical to Federal R. Civ. Pro. 26(a)(2). The fundamental purpose of Iowa R.Civ. Pro. 1.500(2) is to assure disclosure to avoid surprise.

The McGrews filed a petition on July 29, 2016. (App. 5). They accused Dr. Otoadese, a Waterloo vascular surgeon, of performing an unnecessary surgery on Mr. McGrew that led to a catastrophically debilitating stroke. When the McGrews filed and prosecuted their lawsuit, they faithfully

followed these rules. At the inception of litigation, and at every opportunity, the McGrews identified two local physicians (Dr. Ivo Bekavac and Dr. John Halloran) who would testify to certain opinions that they developed outside of the litigation process, including the proposed testimony of Dr. Bekavac, that Dr. Otoadese performed an unnecessary surgery.

The Trial Court determined on the record that the McGrews adequately disclosed the anticipated testimony of these local physicians. The Trial Court stated that no one was surprised by the anticipated testimony of these local physicians. Yet, despite faithfully following the new rules established by this Court with regard to expert disclosures, the Trial Court excluded the crucial testimony of these experts.

Despite following the new rules established by this Court with regard to expert disclosures, the Court of Appeals, in contradiction of the Trial Court's on the record statements, concluded that "the McGrews did not provide adequate disclosure of the nature of the doctors expert opinions." (Court of Appeals Decision, p. 2).

Since the McGrews produced written medical reports from both local physicians and provided a "summary of the facts and opinions" for each expert, it did not matter whether they were deemed retained or not retained

because in either instance the McGrews faithfully complied with Iowa R. Civ. Pro. 1.500(2) and there was no basis to conclude that the McGrews had failed to adequately disclose the anticipated testimony of these physicians.

The ruling of the Trial Court and the decision of the Iowa Court of Appeals contradict the purpose of Iowa R. Civ. Pro. 1.500(2). It is necessary for this court to provide clarification and guidance on how the Trial Courts are to assess the level of disclosure needed to meet each of the requirements set forth in the new rules, including what is expected of physicians who are otherwise providing care and treatment to a party. It is evident from the failure of the task force to agree on numerous issues related to expert testimony that this is an issue that will repeat itself and may have significant consequences on the ability of litigants to develop and prosecute their cases and defenses:

The Task Force discussed several potential reforms of expert discovery rules. Limitation of the number of expert witnesses, restriction of experts' testimony to the contents of their reports, and acceleration of disclosure requirements were thoughtfully considered. In the end, the members reached no consensus in support of such changes because of the perceived risk that *the changes would unreasonably restrict litigants' ability to develop their claims and defenses.*

Reforming the Iowa Civil Justice System: Report of the Iowa Civil Justice Reform Task Force, January 30, 2012, pp. 39-40 (emphasis added)

While Trial Courts have broad discretion with regard to the admissibility of expert testimony, no court has the discretion to misapply the

Iowa Rules of Civil Procedure. *Reis v. Iowa Dist. Court for Polk County*, 787 N.W.2d 61, 66 (Iowa 2010) (“[W]e review interpretation of our rules of civil procedure for errors at law”). The McGrews contend that the Court of Appeals’ decision is in conflict with the language and spirit of this Court’s new rules with regard to expert disclosure and this case presents an opportunity for this court to provide a clear roadmap for how Trial Courts and Appellate Courts should resolve disputes regarding expert disclosures. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1103(1)(b)(1), (2) and (3).

The McGrews respectfully request that this Court accept further review and conclude that they faithfully complied with the expert disclosure requirements and that these two local physicians should have been permitted to testify to the opinions fully disclosed in the petition, the designation of experts, the medical reports, and the supplemental answer to interrogatory.

BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF FURTHER REVIEW
STATEMENT OF THE FACTS¹

The McGrews disclosure of the anticipated testimony of these two local physicians began with the petition, which outlined the evidence to be provided by these two local physicians. (App. 7-8, ¶s22-26). It was followed by their designation of experts, which included these two local physicians and indicated that both local doctors would testify to the standard of care and any breach of the standard of care. (App. 11).

The McGrews provided the medical reports of both of these physicians, a medical progress note from Dr. Bekavac, and a radiology report from Dr. Halloran. (App. 253-256). The McGrews then provided a supplemental answer to an interrogatory in which they disclosed “a summary of the facts and opinions to which [these witnesses were] expected to testify” as required by Iowa R. Civ. Pro. 1.500(2). (App. 156-59). Finally, at the request of the defendants, they arranged to have both local physicians deposed, only to have the defendants cancel the depositions.² (App. 163-64).

¹ This statement of facts will focus on the McGrews’ effort to disclose the anticipated testimony of these local physicians. For a more thorough discussion of the facts, the McGrews refer the court to their Final Briefs.

² At oral argument, defendants conceded that the reason that they canceled the depositions was because they wanted to argue that the McGrews had not properly disclosed these local physicians as expert witnesses.

I. THE COURT OF APPEALS APPLIED THE WRONG ANALYSIS REQUIRED BY THE NEW RULES FOR DISCLOSURE OF PROPOSED EXPERT WITNESS TESTIMONY SET FORTH IN IOWA R. CIV PRO. 1.500(2) WHEN IT CONCLUDED ---IN DIRECT CONTRADICTION TO THE TRIAL COURT’S CONCLUSION-- THAT THE “MCGREWS DID NOT PROVIDE ADEQUATE DISCLOSURE OF THE NATURE OF THE DOCTORS’ EXPERT OPINIONS”.

In a medical negligence case, “expert testimony is required to establish the standard of care and a breach thereof.” *Schroeder v. Albaghdadi*, 744 N.W.2d 651, 656 (Iowa 2008). Further, identification or certification of expert witnesses in a medical negligence case is governed by Iowa Code §668.11.

Once properly designated, the Iowa Rules of Civil Procedure then require a party to disclose those facts and opinions to be offered by an expert witness. Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.500(2). The form of disclosure is dependent upon whether the witness was retained or specially employed for litigation. If so, Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.500(2)(b) applies, and the expert is required to provide a written report outlined in the rule. If not, Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.500(2)(c) applies, and the expert is not required to provide a written report but the party calling the expert is required to disclose “a summary of the facts and opinions to which the witness is expected to testify.” Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.500(2)(c)(2).

Once properly designated and opinions disclosed, an expert’s testimony is governed by Iowa R. Evid. 5.702. Iowa has long been “committed to a

liberal rule on admissibility of expert testimony.” *Carolán v. Hill*, 553 N.W.2d 882, 888 (Iowa 1996). "Exclusion of an expert as a witness is the most severe sanction and should not be imposed lightly. . . ." *Lambert v. Sisters of Mercy Health Corp.*, 369 N.W.2d 417, 421 (Iowa 1985)³ (“We caution trial courts from readily excluding expert testimony in malpractice cases for inadvertent failure to disclose that testimony during discovery. Exclusion is justified only when prejudice would result.” *Id* at 421).

Initially, and most importantly, the Trial Court found that the McGrews properly designated Drs. Bekavac and Halloran in the designation of experts and appropriately disclosed the proposed testimony as required by Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.500(2). The Court made this finding on three occasions during trial. (Trial Day #1, Tr. p. 41, L. 10 – p. 14; Tr. p. 45, L. 24 – p. 46, L. 14; Trial Day #2, p. 7, L. 15-18). This finding is supported by the McGrews’ designation of experts filed on February 6, 2018. (App. 11). It is also supported by the McGrews’ disclosures set forth in its resistance to Dr. Otoadese’s motion in limine. (App. 105, 110-118, 129-164).

³ This same principle was cited by Dr. Otoadese in a pretrial pleading resisting the McGrews’ effort to strike one of Dr. Otoadese's expert for failure to make him available for a deposition. (Defendants’ Resistance to Plaintiffs’ Motion to Strike, 1.21.2019, p. 2).

Notwithstanding that finding, the Trial Court and the Court of Appeals relied on *Hansen v. Cent. Iowa Hosp. Corp.*, 686 N.W.2d 476 (Iowa 2004) to limit or exclude their testimony. (App. 227, 229; Decision, p. 6)). The Trial Court’s ruling was premised on Dr. Bekavac’s status as a treating physician and incorrectly interpreted *Hansen v. Cent. Iowa Hosp. Corp.* to prohibit standard of care opinions by treating physicians, even if properly designated and disclosed, unless the standard of care opinions were a necessary part of providing care and treatment. (Trial Day #2, Tr. p. 5, L. 17 – p. 7, L. 7).

The Court of Appeals also concluded that the proposed opinions of the local physicians “did not arise from treating McGrew” and concluded that “they were not treating physicians” and “could not testify as treating physicians.” (Decision, p. 6).

But Iowa R. Civ. Pro. 1.500(2) does not focus on whether someone is a treating physician or not; it focuses only on whether they were retained or specially employed to provide expert testimony. Dr. Bekavac was evaluating and treating Mr. McGrew when he wrote in his progress note “40% of stenosis was not significant to justify endarterectomy in my opinion.” (App. 254). At the time that he made this statement, there was no lawsuit on file and counsel was not retained. Further, at no time thereafter did Dr. Bekavac contend or assert that he had been retained or specially employed for the

purpose of this litigation. All Dr. Bekavac did was offer an opinion in a progress note that, in his medical opinion, surgery was not justified.

But more importantly, the distinction of whether he was retained or specially employed as opposed to a non-retained expert witness, while important for future litigants, and worthy of significant discussion, does not alter the fact that Dr. Bekavac's report stating that opinion was produced during the course of discovery, was referred to and outlined in a supplemental interrogatory setting forth a summary of facts and opinions that he would testify to (App. 158), was marked as an Exhibit for purposes of trial (App. 246), was marked as a Court Exhibit when the court refused to allow Dr. Bekavac to testify (App. 253) and was deemed by the Trial Court to have constituted fair disclosure to the defendant (Trial Day #1, Tr. p. 41, L. 10 – p. 14; Tr. p. 45, L. 24 – p. 46, L. 14; Trial Day #2, p. 7, L. 15-18).

Both Drs. Bekavac and Halloran gained knowledge of the facts and formulated opinions before the McGrews retained counsel and filed suit, and well before they were disclosed as expert witnesses. In fact, neither was retained as an expert witness. But regardless of what label one puts on them, the McGrews focused on assuring full disclosure. That is why they were identified in the petition, in the designation of experts, in medical records, and supplemental interrogatory answers. The supplemental answers

disclosed the opinions of Drs. Bekavac and Halloran and offered availability for depositions.

Yet, despite overwhelming transparency, and a lack of prejudice to the Defendants, the Trial Court and Court of Appeals erroneously focused on the local physicians' status as treating care providers rather than the fact that they had been fully disclosed as expert witnesses. Both Courts overlook the fact that even treating care physicians can testify to the standard of care so long as they have been appropriately designated as experts and their expected opinions had been disclosed to the defense. That is the holding of *Hansen*.

There is nothing in *Hansen* that permits the court to strike a properly designated expert witness or to prohibit an expert witness from testifying to fully disclosed opinions. Even if the Trial Court and Court of Appeals correctly determined that Drs. Bekavac and Halloran were not treating physicians at any point in time,⁴ or for any specific opinion, *Hansen* does not

⁴ Whether these local physicians were retained or specially employed may be worthy of discussion on further review and may aid future litigants in determining how and to what extent to disclose anticipated testimony, but it is not crucial to the resolution of this appeal. Regardless of what you call these two experts, the Trial Court concluded that their opinions had been disclosed and no surprise had occurred.

provide support for the proposition that the Trial Court can prevent these experts from testifying.⁵

Where the Trial Court acknowledged full disclosure under both Iowa Code §668.11 and Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.500(2), the court nevertheless prohibited this testimony. This was an error of law and since that error of law is the basis for the court's discretionary decision to exclude the witnesses, it amounts to an abuse of discretion. *Hansen* at 484 (“we agree with Marlys that Dr. Pollack's causation opinion was not within the ambit of section 668.11. The district court therefore abused its discretion in not admitting the offer of proof on that ground.”).

Finally, the Court of Appeals cited to *Sherrick v. Obstetrics & Gynecology Specialists, P.C.*, 2018 Iowa App. LEXIS 1005 (Iowa Ct. App. 2018) for the proposition that “a physician's opinion was inadmissible because it did not relate to the care provided to the plaintiff.” (Decision, p. 6). However, in *Sherrick*, the plaintiff “did not certify her as an expert witness under Iowa Code section 668.11.” *Id* at *8. The Court of Appeals

⁵ In *Hansen*, the Court recognized that “Nothing in [IRCP 125, now 1.508] shall be construed to preclude a witness from testifying as to (1) knowledge of the facts obtained by the witness prior to being retained as an expert or (2) mental impressions or opinions formed by the witness which are based on such knowledge.” *Hansen* at 481 (citing to *Day v. McIlrath*, 469 N.W.2d 676 (Iowa 1991) and then Iowa R. Civ. P. 125).

concluded that “the treating physician's opinion on the standard of care was expert testimony, **and thus improper absent compliance with the required disclosures.**” *Sherrick* at *10 (emphasis added)

CONCLUSION

The McGrews did everything they could to comply with Iowa R. Civ. Pro. 1.500(2). The Trial Court concluded that no one had been surprised and that full disclosure had been made regarding the proposed testimony of these two local physicians. Yet, the Court of Appeals affirmed on a factual matter unsupported by the record.

This Court should accept further review and correct this injustice.