IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

NO. 19-2137

WILLIAM MCGREW and ELAINE MCGREW,

Plaintiffs-Appellants,

vs.

**EROMOSELE OTOADESE, M.D. and NORTHERN IOWA
CARDIOVASCULAR AND THORACIC SURGERY CLINIC, P.C.,**

Defendants-Appellees

**APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR BLACK HAWK
COUNTY LACV 130355 THE HONORABLE KELLYANN LEKAR**

**Defendants-Appellees' Resistance to Application for Further Review
Of Court of Appeals March 3, 2021 Decision**

JENNIFER E. RINDEN AT0006606

VINCENT S. GEIS AT0013055

NANCY J. PENNER AT0006146

for

SHUTTLEWORTH & INGERSOLL

500 U.S. Bank Bldg., P.O. Box 2107

Cedar Rapids, IA 52406

PHONE: (319) 365-9461

FAX: (319) 365-8443

e-mail: njp@shuttleworthlaw.com

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

Argument

I. Review of the Court of Appeals' Decision is not warranted.

This case involves the admissibility of standard of care and breach opinions from two physicians (Dr. Ivo Bekavac and Dr. John Halloran) who

never provided signed expert reports. Plaintiffs have suggested that all they ever sought to introduce were opinions and statements set forth in medical records of the two physicians—so, of course, there was full disclosure. But this was *not* the issue for the district court. Plaintiffs expressly sought to introduce *much more* at trial—opinions from both physicians that were never disclosed. The Court of Appeals recognized this and correctly held that Plaintiffs “did not provide adequate disclosure of the nature of the doctors’ opinions.” Decision at 10.

Under well-settled Iowa law, when a physician ventures outside a treatment role and assumes a role analogous to a retained expert, his or her “expert” opinions may be excluded at trial if not properly disclosed. *See Hansen v. Central Iowa Hospital Corp*, 686 N.W.2d 476, 483 (Iowa 2004); *Hagenow v. Schmidt*, 842 N.W.2d 661, note 4 (Iowa 2014) (concluding causation opinion from treating physician that “went beyond” treatment “was subject to the disclosure and supplementation requirements of Rule 1.508,” comparing *Hansen* which did not require disclosure given physician’s causation opinion was formed during treatment); *Day v. McIlrath*, 469 N.W.2d 676, 677 (Iowa 1991) (“When a treating physician assumes a role in litigation analogous to the role of a retained expert,” discovery under Rule 125 may be required; also discussing

rule's requirement for expert signature);³ *see also Avendt v. Covidien Inc.*, 314 FRD 547, 555 (E.D. Mich. 2016) (“As was the case before the 2010 Amendments [to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 26], if a treating physician is going to offer expert testimony that goes beyond the diagnosis and treatment of the patient . . . that treating physician must still file a full blown expert report under 26(a)(2)(B).”).

The district court found that standard of care and breach opinions by Dr. Bekavac and Dr. Halloran were developed in a role analogous to a retained expert and excluded the opinions. While the district court indicated there was disclosure, such references must be read in the context of the entire proceedings and the court's rulings. The Court of Appeals affirmed exclusion of the opinions, finding they did not arise out of treatment and Plaintiffs did *not* provide adequate disclosure. Decision at 6-10.

The Court of Appeals Decision flows from, and is consistent with, Iowa law on the required disclosure of expert opinions generally and under the circumstances arising in this case. The Court of Appeals first considered if the physicians' purported opinions as to standard of care and breach arose out of treatment and concluded they did not.

³Prior to Rule 1.500(2)(b), the requirement for signed expert opinions was found in Rule 1.508 that required a signed opinion in response to an interrogatory. Prior to Rule 1.508, the requirement was found in Rule 125. *See* Rule 1.508 (2020) (rule history); Rule 1.508(1) (2014).

The opinions of Dr. Bekavac and Dr. Halloran concerning whether Dr. Otoadese should have performed the right carotid endarterectomy to remove plaque did not arise from treating McGrew. At the time Dr. Bekavac and Dr. Halloran arrived at their opinions, the surgery had already been performed.

Decision at 6. Plaintiffs do not complain about the conclusion that the physicians had stepped outside their role as treating physicians.

Next, the Court of Appeals discussed the Rule requirements to disclose the “identity” of experts, noting this requirement was not in dispute. *Id.*

However, in addition to disclosure of identity, the Rules require disclosure of opinions. *Id.* at 7.

After discussing relevant Iowa case law, the Court of Appeals found:

A doctor has taken a role analogous to that of a retained expert if the “physician focuses more on the legal issues in pending litigation and less on the medical facts and opinions associated in treating a patient.” [quoting *Eisenhauer ex re. T.D. v. Henry Cty Health Ctr.*, 935 N.W.2d 1, 22 (Iowa 2019)]. Dr. Bekavac and Dr. Halloran were expected to testify . . . whether Dr. Otoadese was negligent in recommending a right carotid endarterectomy. These opinions were relevant to pending litigation and not to the treatment of McGrew, as the opinions arose after the treatment had occurred.

Decision at 8. It follows that the rules pertaining to discovery of an expert’s opinion applied. *Id.* (citing *Day v. McIlrath*, 469 N.W.2d 676, 677 (Iowa 1991)).⁴

⁴ Plaintiffs have never disputed that Iowa law requires disclosure of a treating physician’s standard of care opinions. They argue that “even treating care physicians can testify to the standard of care *so long as* they have been

Next, the Court of Appeals directly dealt with the issue about which Plaintiffs complain—application of Rules 1.500(2)(b) and (c). Importantly, the Court of Appeals held that *even if* Drs. Bekavac and Halloran were not required to provide a signed report as retained or specially employed experts under Rule 1.500(2)(b), the physicians “were subject to the requirements” of Rule 1.500(2)(c) that requires disclosure of a “summary of facts and opinions.” Decision at 8-9.⁵ The Court of Appeals found this required disclosure had not occurred:

The exact nature of the doctor’s opinions was unknown to the parties. Counsel for plaintiffs indicated he did not have access to the two doctors. . . .

. . . The McGrews did not provide adequate disclosure of the nature of the doctor’s opinions. We affirm the court’s rulings on these issues.

Decision at 9-10 (footnotes omitted).

Thus, Plaintiffs’ complaint with the Court of Appeals’ Decision is a disagreement with the Court’s view of the specific procedural facts—*not* the application of new Rules. The Court of Appeals held that even under Plaintiffs’

appropriately designated as experts and *their expected opinions had been disclosed to the defense*. That is the holding of *Hansen*.” Application at 14 (emphasis added). This case is about the adequacy of disclosure under existing legal principles, not a dispute about the law.

⁵At trial, Plaintiffs argued signed expert reports were not required and Rule 1.500(2)(c) applied. App. 111 (Plaintiffs’ resistance to motion in limine).

view—that signed expert opinions were not required—it was not an abuse of discretion to exclude the physicians’ testimony.⁶

Contrary to Plaintiffs’ suggestion, the Decision does not contradict the purpose of Rule 1.500(2)—which Plaintiffs identify as to “avoid surprise.” Application at 5. While Plaintiffs’ disclosures indicated they intended to elicit full blown expert opinions from the treating physicians on the applicable standard of care that was breached by Dr. Otoadese, the physicians’ actual opinions on those subjects are—to this day—unknown. *See* below.

Plaintiffs’ argument that the inability of the Civil Justice Task Force to come to an agreement on certain expert rules means this Court should review this case to provide guidance is not persuasive. First, Plaintiffs did not even cite to the Task Force Report until their reply brief in this appeal. If the lack of clarity was so great as to warrant this Court’s review, it should have been cited in Plaintiffs’ initial brief. Second, the specific issues which the Task Force could not resolve as quoted by Plaintiffs are not involved in this case. *See* Application at 7 (quoting report that identified no consensus reached on “[l]imitation of the

⁶ This issue is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *See Hansen*, 686 N.W.2d at 479-80. In addition, this Court’s “review of rulings on motions for new trial depends on the grounds for new trial asserted in the motion and ruled upon by the district court.” *Id.* In the post-trial proceedings, the district court considered this issue under an abuse of discretion standard. App. 228 (Order).

number of experts, restriction of experts’ testimony to the contents of their reports,⁷ and acceleration of disclosure requirements”).

The Decision is consistent with Iowa case law and Rule 1.500(2). The Court of Appeals applied existing legal principles to the circumstances of this case. There is no reason for further review.

II. The Court of Appeals’ Decision is correct—there was no abuse of discretion by the district court.

A more detailed review of the merits demonstrates the Decision is correct.

A. Summary of select evidence and closing argument.

A carotid endarterectomy surgery was performed by Dr. Otoadese on Plaintiff on September 2, 2014. Plaintiff suffered a stroke—a known complication of the surgery.⁸ Plaintiffs alleged the surgery was unnecessary and that Dr. Otoadese was negligent in recommending it. The jury disagreed, finding in favor of Dr. Otoadese. App. 205-08 (Order).

Critical evidence at trial on whether surgery was necessary concerned the degree of stenosis (or narrowing) of the carotid artery. Plaintiff underwent an angiogram to determine the extent of the stenosis. It was interpreted by

⁷ This case is not about restricting testimony to expert reports—Plaintiffs produced no expert reports for the two physicians at issue.

⁸ See Day 4, 131:8-133:11. Dr. Otoadese refers to the transcript by Trial Day as titled by the court reporter as Day 1 (February 26) through Day 6 (March 5, 2019).

radiologist Dr. Cammoun as showing 65% stenosis. Day 5, 37:14-25, 40:24-42:2. Dr. Otoadese estimated the stenosis as 70% and recommended surgery. *See* App. 249 (Trial Exh. A at 6). Dr. Otoadese's experts agreed that surgery was appropriate. Day 4, 124:2-24, 127:8-10; Day 5, 120:23-121:14. Plaintiffs' surgical expert, Dr. Adams, disagreed, testifying that the stenosis was 35-45%. Day 4, 19:3-23.

Plaintiffs were also allowed to introduce evidence that neurologist Dr. Bekavac assessed the stenosis as approximately 40% and that he viewed this as significantly different from 65%. Day 2, 147:9-148:11 (Bekavac before jury). Dr. Bekavac was also allowed to testify that he asked board certified neuroradiologist Dr. Halloran to interpret the angiogram and that Dr. Halloran arrived at 32% stenosis. *Id.* 150:8-20, 155:3-5; App. 246 (Trial Exh. 12).

Dr. Adams testified that Plaintiff was "absolutely not" a surgical candidate under the 32-40% stenosis determined by Drs. Bekavac and Halloran. Day 4, 18:18-19:6. Plaintiffs also elicited testimony from Dr. Otoadese that Plaintiff would not have been a surgical candidate if Drs. Bekavac and Halloran were correct in their 32-40% determinations. Day 4, 89:7-19.

In closing argument, Plaintiffs argued it was Dr. Bekavac that the jury could trust:

. . . you're going to be looking for somebody you can trust in this case . . . and that's Dr. Bekavac. . . . It is Dr. Bekavac that drives

this case because without Dr. Bekavac's willingness to say that, there's no case here. . . .

...

. . . We got Dr. Bekavac who has no interest in this telling you it's only 40 percent, and you've got Dr. Halloran who has no interest in this telling you that he has 32 percent. In fact, both of them are friends of [Dr. Otoadese], so actually, you would expect it to be the other way around. . . .

Day 6, 16:6-18, 32:19-23.

B. Summary of relevant proceedings.

In addition to Dr. Adams, Plaintiffs designated Dr. Bekavac and Dr. Halloran. *See App. 11-13.* After Plaintiff had the carotid surgery and stroke, he saw neurologist Dr. Bekavac for a "second opinion" as to whether the carotid endarterectomy was indicated. Day 2, 110:12-20, 119:3-120:18 (Bekavac offer of proof). Dr. Bekavac wrote the following:

. . . [The angiogram] was read by Dr. Cammoun, who felt there was right ICA stenosis around 65%. I did review personally . . . and my opinion stenosis of right ICA is approximately 40%. . . . *The patient wants to know exactly the reasoning behind surgery whether first surgery and second surgery was indicated.*

...

IMPRESSION:

1. The patient suffered right hemispheric embolic infarct after endarterectomy and occlusion of right internal artery. *Initially symptoms possibly related to amaurosis fugax, but 40% of stenosis was not significant to justify endarterectomy in my opinion.*

...

PLAN:

...

3. I will ask Dr. Halloran, neuroradiologist to review CTA because of discrepancy between my review and Dr. Cammoun review. . . .

App. 253-55 (Court Exh. 1) (emphasized language redacted from Plaintiffs' Trial Exh. 11). Dr. Halloran reviewed the angiogram and wrote that the right carotid had 32% stenosis. App. 256 (Court Exh. 2).⁹

Plaintiffs disclosed what they intended to elicit from the two physicians in an interrogatory answer (which was not signed by the physicians). App. 97-100 (“Interrogatory Answer”). Plaintiffs indicated their intent to introduce opinions from *both* physicians as to the standard of care applicable to Dr. Otoadese, that Dr. Otoadese breached that standard of care, and causation. *Id.*; *see also* Plaintiffs’ Brief at 39, 6-17-2020 (arguing Dr. Bekavac should have been allowed to testify “to his opinions formed at the time that he wrote [Court Exhibit 1]”). However, at no time prior to trial did Plaintiffs disclose what Drs. Bekavac or Halloran opined was the standard of care breached by Dr. Otoadese or the opinions Dr. Bekavac formed when he wrote Court Exhibit 1. App. 97-100, 253-56 (Interrogatory Answer; Court Exh. 1-2). Nor did Plaintiffs ever produce signed expert reports for either physician.

Citing *Hansen*, Dr. Otoadese moved in limine on any “testimony or other evidence from treating health care providers that exceeds the proper scope of

⁹ Court Exhibit 1 (App. 253-55) is Dr. Bekavac’s unredacted medical report from September 26, 2014. The redacted report was introduced as Trial Exhibit 11. App. 239-41. Court Exhibit 2 (App. 256) is Dr. Halloran’s report concerning the pre-surgery angiogram that was not introduced to the jury. *But see* App. 246 (Trial Exh. 12 with 32% documented).

such testimony . . . , including but not limited to after-the-fact non-treatment opinions of Dr. Bekavac and Dr. Halloran.” App. 28-33 (Motion, 2/12/2019).

In an offer of proof, Dr. Bekavac agreed that he was asked to do two things: 1) establish a doctor/patient relationship with Plaintiff, and 2) offer a second opinion about the stroke to answer the family’s questions. Day 2, 110:12-20, 97:22-25. As to the family’s request for a second opinion, he agreed that he was “in retrospect, . . . looking back at [the procedure done] to see what [he] might have recommended.” *Id.* 112:11-19. Under the court’s questioning, he testified that had the family not asked if the surgery was indicated, he would “just say patient suffered stroke.” *Id.* 119:3-120:18. In his offer of proof, Dr. Halloran confirmed that his report was actually *not* generated for treatment as “the treatment had already occurred.” Day 3, 14:10-15:10.

After listening to counsel argument over the course of several days, considering applicable rules and Iowa case law, and allowing unlimited offers of proof from both Drs. Bekavac and Halloran, the district court limited the evidence from both physicians to that formulated during their care and treatment. The court allowed Dr. Bekavac to testify about his determination of the 40% percent stenosis. Day 2, 4:23-6:1, 7:1-4. The court ultimately agreed that Dr. Halloran’s 32% finding could be introduced through Dr. Bekavac, alleviating the need to

call Dr. Halloran, who “really wasn’t treating the patient for this.” Day 2, 127:7-22, 129:7-15; *see also* Day 3, 4:4-5:9, 20:6-17 (ruling as to Dr. Halloran).

On appeal, Plaintiffs did not argue the district court abused its discretion in finding that Drs. Bekavac and Halloran were, in part, acting outside a treatment role. Nor did Plaintiffs argue *Hansen* does not apply. Instead, Plaintiffs argued that because the district court found (in Plaintiffs’ view) that the physicians were fully disclosed, then the court essentially had no discretion to exclude any of their testimony. Plaintiffs read too much into the court’s discussion of disclosure. Further, to the extent the district court’s discussion of disclosure created an ambiguity, the Court of Appeals resolved it by clearly and concisely stating Plaintiffs failed to adequately disclose the physicians’ opinions. Decision at 2, 10.

C. The Court of Appeals correctly found that Plaintiffs did not adequately disclose.

As the Court of Appeals found, under either Rule 1.500(2)(b) or (c), a party is required to disclose opinions of an expert—in a signed written expert report under (b)¹⁰ or in a summary of the actual opinions under (c).

¹⁰One purpose of expert reports is to allow the opposing party to prepare for trial without deposing the expert. *See R.C. Olmstead, Inc., v. CU Interface, LLC*, 606 F.3d 262, 271 (6th Cir. 2010) (“report must be complete such that opposing counsel is not forced to depose an expert”). Plaintiffs suggest that defense counsel stated in oral argument that the defense withdrew the request to depose Drs. Bekavac and Halloran in order to support an argument that their opinions were not disclosed. Defense counsel does not share this recollection. Nor did the Court of Appeals mention or rely upon such an argument.

1. The medical reports do not disclose the opinions Plaintiffs sought to introduce.

Plaintiffs rely upon the physicians' medical reports to satisfy their disclosure obligation. But those medical reports (Court Exhibits 1-2) do not contain opinions which Plaintiffs argue they should have been allowed to elicit from both physicians—the applicable standard of care that was breached by Dr. Otoadese. Plaintiffs repeatedly stated their clear intent to introduce *more* than what is set forth in the medical reports.¹¹ In other words, Plaintiffs were not satisfied with the physicians' medical reports but sought to elicit testimony at trial that went well beyond them.

While Dr. Bekavac's medical report includes: "40% of stenosis was not significant to justify endarterectomy in my opinion," App. 254, this is not a standard of care or a breach opinion. It is not a disclosure of a "complete statement" of an opinion "and the basis and reasons" for it as required under Rule 1.500(2)(b).

Nor is it an actual standard of care or breach opinion—which Plaintiffs sought to introduce. *See* Rule 1.500(2)(b) and (c). As Dr. Bekavac testified in his offer of proof: "in medicine, as you know, we don't have to agree about

¹¹ See App. 97-100 ("Interrogatory Answer"); Plaintiffs' Brief at 39, 6-17-2020 (arguing Dr. Bekavac should have been allowed to testify "to his opinions formed at the time that he wrote [Court Exhibit 1]").

something.” Day 2, 99:4-5. A medical disagreement is not the equivalent of an opinion that a physician breached the standard of care.

Even without Dr. Bekavac’s own explanation that physicians are not required to agree, his statement is not, in and of itself, competent standard of care or breach evidence to support Plaintiffs’ intended use. *See DeBurkarte v. Louvar*, 393 N.W.2d 131, 133 (Iowa 1986) (agreeing “testimony on what another physician would do is not sufficient to establish a standard of care.”); *Bray v. Hill*, 517 N.W.2d 223, 226 (Iowa Ct. App. 1994) (same); *Surgical Consultants, P.C. v. Ball*, 447 N.W.2d 676, 681 (Iowa Ct. App. 1989) (“A physician’s testimony as to his or her personal practices or policies, or as to how he or she would handle a specific case, does not suffice as evidence of the standard of care required of a physician.”); *see also Freese v. Lemmon*, 267 N.W.2d 680, 687-88 (Iowa 1978) (physician testimony about what that particular physician would do if presented the plaintiff’s situation was insufficient to submit the medical malpractice case).

Further, extrapolation and speculation would be required to convert the statement to a breach opinion. *See Kush v. Sullivan*, 2013 WL 4437077 *5 (Iowa Ct. App. 2013) (affirming summary judgment in medical malpractice case for defendant, refusing to extrapolate from treating physician’s statements to find evidence of breach). It is, for example, unknown if Dr. Bekavac’s supposed

breach opinion concerned Dr. Otoadese's own determination of stenosis, his use of Dr. Cammoun's opinion (rather than seeking Dr. Halloran's opinion), his consideration of the eye symptoms, or some combination of these. Dr. Bekavac's opinion as to what the standard of care required of Dr. Otoadese is unknown.

The statement does not even support Plaintiffs' desired argument at trial that Dr. Bekavac was "critical" of Dr. Otoadese. *See* Day 5, 173:5-15 (ruling that Plaintiffs could not argue Drs. Bekavac and Halloran were critical of Dr. Otoadese, but could argue they disagreed). Plaintiffs did not ask Dr. Bekavac if he was "critical" of Dr. Otoadese in the offer of proof. It is unknown how Dr. Bekavac would have responded to such questions. And it appears Dr. Bekavac's disagreement with Dr. Otoadese may well have only pertained to the determination of the percent of stenosis--in other words Dr. Otoadese's reading of the angiogram.

2. The Interrogatory Answer does not disclose the opinions Plaintiffs sought to introduce.

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